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1 Mu1y 9, 1912. 10 o'clock A.M.

395,1

2 Defendant in cot1.rt with counsel. Jury called; all pre-

3 sent. Cas~ :resumed.

4 THE COURT: You may proceed, Bentl6"!len.

5 MR ROGERS: If your Honor please. we offerrthe deposition

6 of John J. Healy.
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as a witness on behalf of the defendant, having been

HEALY, produced"JOHN J

Q Mr. Healy, will you please give us your

MR. ROGERS. (Reading)

testified as follows:

· I:

first duly sworn, was examined in chief by :!ir. Masters, and
I

Y.R. MAsters.

1

2

3

4

5

6 full name? A John J. "Healy.

Q V!here do you reside? A Chicago, Cook Couh ty , 111.

Q What is your age? A I beg pardon;

Q What is your age? A Forty s:i:r. years of age.

Q Excuse me for asking you that ques tion •

7

8

9

10

11 J.ffi. KEETCH. ~ver twenty-one, anyway.

12 MR. MASTERS. Q your profession is that of a lawyer?

13 A Yes, sir.

14 Q How long l:ave you been pr ac tieing law, Mr. Healy, in

15 Chicagoi' A About twenty-four years.

16 Q va,!e you always lived bere? A Born in C1'.icago and

17 lived here all Illy life.

18 Q pave you ever held any official posi tion in this

19 County--meaning by that Cook County b the State of

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Illinois? A Yes; 1 was master in Chancery of the Superior

Court of Cook Coun ty for about twelve years; and 1 was

State's attorney of this county for four years."

1fR ROGERS: I v.ould take a stipulation from Mr Keetch, in

order that some of these depositions m~ be understood,

that "States Attorn~" corresponds 'Nith "District Attor-

nay" -- the same thing.

lfR KEETCH: That is a fact.
THE COURr: . It is 50 stipulated?

-----Tm- ..,)



Q That was from when to when?MR. ROGERS. (Reading.)

A From 1904 to 1908

years.

A Yes

Q tn the capaci~y of lecturer, political debater and so

for th? A Yes, he has baen a man who has always taken

-Q, Eave you held any other official posi tion than that of

~llaBter in Chancery and States Attorney? A 1 think not.

Q Do you know Clarence S. Darrow? A Yes.

Q Uow long have you known him? A About twenty years.

Q Where have you known him? A In Chicago.

Q What bas been the nature and intimacy of your acquaint­

ance Witb him? A Well, 1 have known him personally for

approximately twenty years. 1 bad been associated With

bim in the trial of cases where we have represented oppos­

ing interests, and sometimes where we have both been on the

same side of a case. And then, 1 know him as a public

character, more or less, in ~icago, during all of these

definite position on all public questions which have arieen

in our public life.

Q What was his career here as to whether he was ITlu'ch or

little in public notice--during the time you have lived

here? A He was very nuch in public notice during the

tirre 1 have known him. He was one of the prominent

public characters of Chicago.

Q Did you know him as a member of the bar association?

1 --"'oS(='(!('"""Ir,"'-lle("-JII4l')V-'~~I..u:IBiARfL'U'-'-'\I--J
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1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Q Did you meet him there? A Yes, 1 have met him at the

Chicago Bar Association, and 1 think on one or two occa~

sions at the Illinois Bar Association.

Q Those were meetings of the bar, Illinois lawyers, and

.the lawyers of Gticago? A Yes, sir.

Q As the case might be? A Yes, sir"

Q Do you knoVl the general reputation which Mr. Darrow

bore in the community in which he resides? A 1 do.

9 Q Previous to the finding of these indictments against

10 him, for truth, honesty and integr i ty? A Yes, sir"

11 Q Vlbat was that reputation? A Good.

12 Q What is that reputation? A Good ..

13 MR. MASTERS. That is all. n

14 MR" KEETCHi (Reading) "Cross-Examination, by Mr. Keetch.

Will you read thequestion,

15 Q Is his reputation any differen t now than it was before

16 the indictments? A No. 1 aSSUlYe that the mere bringing of

17 an indictment against any man does not affect, in ar;y way,

18 his reputation, because to my mind the presumption of inno-

19 cence prevails until the contrary is shown ~

20 Q In other words, as far as your knOWledge of his

21 reputation is concerned, the ";~-£.s" is practically comprised

22 in the word "is"; that is, in other words, his reputation

23 is good, is· that what you mean, now, today, in the neigh-

24 borhood in which he lives? A

25 please?

26 Q I Wi thdraw that question" In other worda, the



observations in life that some men who might not know Mr.

the br inging of th e indictmen t haa not changed your mind,

Darrowwould be influenced by the fact that an indict.ment had

been returned against hin~ and that he was now charged With

a serious offense.

1 assume that from my practicalDarrow.~y opinion of M~

or has not changed the reputation which you know of him in I
the cOr:JIT.uni ty in Which he lives? A Well, it has not changeh

I
I

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9 Q Did you Jive near him, l':'r. Healy? A Part of that time,

10 yes. He lived up there on tpe north side of Chicago where 1

11 have lived all n:y life, he lived there for 1 don't know

12 how long.

13 Q As you have aaid, your acquaintance with him was

14

15

16

17

18

19

largely a personal one, and it has been a personal one,haa

it? A Well, 1 cannot. say that 1 have been a personal frien 1

of his, although we have always known each other. Originall~,

1 got acquainted With him through a very close n~tual friendl

of curs, and that was at the time when he was not practicing

law for hime e1 f, as 1 recall it.

20 Q. pow often did you Dleet Mr. Darrow, do you think? A Oh, 1

21 suppose 1 would meet and see iftr. Darrow on an average of

22 fifteen or twenty times a year.

23 ~ ~ot more than that? A When 1 was in the States Attorney'e

24 office it would be oftener, yes, sir.

25 Q You tried cases Vlith him on both sides, With him and

26 against birr., have you 7 A Well, When 1 say 1 tried



with him, 1 have had charge of cases, the prosecution ofl

cases where he has represented the interests of prosecuting I
witnesses and in that way ras been associated with me,

we have been associated togetrer in that way.

Q What was the class of cases you were associated With

~ And sub-cOIT!munities? A Yes, sir.

Q You have said that you lived near him, or he lived

near you speaking of that little Bocial corr.muni ty where-

ever it might be. You are not limiting his reputation

to that, are you? A No, sir, no.

Q In other words, it comprises the whole city of Chicago?

A Yeo, sir.

Q ~hat is the idea now. Yes, in expressing my idea of

tions.

Mr. Darrow in? A Mostly criminal cases, criminal prosecu-

3959

Q Were you prosecuting the cases? A 1 was the prosecuting

attorney of the county at that time.

Q You wer e? A Yes, air.

Q And when you speak of thecommunity in which he lives,

do you refer to any limited area, or to tte entire

City of Chicago? A Well, of course, 1 only know his

reputation among these people which whoni 1 asaoc ia ted and

in the corr.munity in vhi.ch 1 live, and 1 am necessarily

confired to Chicago.

Q Chicago of course emnraces a very large area, and

it is subdivided into ~ar ious cornffiuni ties? A Yes.
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1 reputation which he enjoyed, ·1 have had in mind the whole

2 territory or community in which he has lived, and n.oved, and

3 acted, during the years which 1 ha~Te known him.

4 Q With referenceto reputation, what do yOt, understand

5 by that? A Tbe reputation which he has enjoyed, I ur.der­

6 stand--

7 Q, What do you understand by his reputation, i~r. Healy, do

8 you get my question?· A Do you want me to give my defi­

9 nittin of the word reputation?

10 Q Yell that is what 1 want. A 1 think the things which go

11 to make up a man's reputation are honesty, integrity, high

12 and lofty ideals.

13 Q Yes, but what is reputation? 1 am not making as to the

14

15

16

17

18

19

virtues, but what is reputation, ycur understanding of

reputation? A 1 think it is the record which a man
I

es tablished in the minds of the people with whom he asaoc ia- 1

tes, and in the minds of people who know him and know of

tim by t'he I if e he lives, and the manner in wh ich he has

lived his life.

20 Q How ha\"e you based that statement, then, as to his

:21 reputation; upon what facts 1-. A I base it upon rr.y power ~f

22 observation, and of seeing and talking With the man, and

23 in corrmunicating With others who were friendly to him, and

24 in talking with men who disagreed with some of the pUbl io

25 positions which he has tale n,. and from all those thing3§

26 together with other knowledge and information that comes



Q You have? A Yes, sir.

Q By whom? A Well, one man with whom 1 discussed the

matter very frequently and very definitely was Arthur

W. Pulver.

3861

us in a subconscious sort of a way, 1 have reached the con-

clusion that his reputation was good.

Q Wouldn't that go nore to his abiJ i ty as a pol i tical

speaker and as a student of sociological questions, or as

a lawyer, rather than to his reputation for truth, honesty

and integrity? Have you heard that discussed? A Yes, 1

have heard that diacussed, and 1 have known some things

which Clarence Darrow did upon which 1 base my statement or

opinion more than 1 do upon the reputation which he bas

crea ted here as a public speaker and as a lawyer.

Q n f course, your personal opinion might not be adlliissible.

1 mean now, With reference to the reputation wt,ich he has,

which is based upon some discuss ion as to his hones ty, trut

integrity and so forth? A Yes, sir, 1 have heard it dis-

cussed.

Q About Mr. Darrow? A Yes, sir.

Q Ten or twelve years ago? . A And he expressed to me so
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1 inci ~dents of MI. Darrow IS life a1:x:lUt wh ich he had personal

2 knowledge. In the discussion of that incident, the

3 question of his character arose. Then, 1 have discussed

4 it with numerous others. It is difficult, always, to recall

5 those names. 1 discussed it within the past two or three

6 m~)Il'ths, with Mr. Marble, John H. Marble.

7 Q nidthere appear to be a necessity for discussing his

8 reputation for truth, honesty and integrity? A Ho,

9 except as we discussed from time to time, the reputation of

10 all men that were more or less in the public eye.

11 Q nut does that usually go to their honesty and integri ty?

12 A 1 don,t know that that precise question was raised in

13 the discuss ion.

14 Q 1 see. A But as a result of the discussion 1

15 reached the conclusion that the man who was talking With

16 me had it in mind that Clarence Darrow was an honest and

17 a good man.

18 Q That was abou t two years ago, you say? A No----that is,

19 the talk witt Mr. Marble has been during the P3.st two years,

20 a number of times. w.h e las t conver s a tion 1 had was in June

21 or July of last ye ar •

22 Q Anybody else there? A Yes, !.!r. Burns was present, 1

23 think, at the last conversation, :.~r. William J. Burns.

24 Q fhe detective? A The detective, yes, Who by the way is

25 a very good fr iend of reine.

26 Q, 1 see. A 1 think ;.{r. Burns was present at that
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in Washington 0

against Mr. Darrow.

attempt to do that Without going to 'the docket or records.

That was after the indictment was returned

1 know 1 discussed Mr. Darrow with ll::-. Burns

In VI ashington? A Yes) sir.

This was before t1:e trial of this case out in Los

tion.

Q Yes) against him. A Oh, 1 don,t kr!ow. Pe was there in

the Criminal Court frequently. 1 remember personally oney

Q No, but it would leave an impression on your mind whe­

tller he was more often successful than not. A Well, my

recollection is that Darrow) in the trial of crirrinal

cases was fairly successful) but that he did not get

resul ts for his clients 2,11 of the time; by any manner of

means. By that, 1 mean, he represented at times men who

Q

Q

Q After the indictment? A Yes.

Q 'now many cr i minal cas es have you tr ie d wi th him, ;,1r.

Healy? A Tried with !~r. Darrow?

1
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5 Angeles? A

6
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24
25 were convicted.

26 MR. KEETCH • That is all.
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1 UR ],fASTERS: Th at is all t 1,{r Healy.

(Signed) John J. Healy.u2
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produced as a witness on behalf of the defendant, having

A Since 1894.

A That is all.

"JOHN E. W. WAYMAN,

A 1908, yes, sir.

(Reading)

How long have you lived in Chicago?

Since 1894? A Yes.

Elected in 1908?

Your profession is that of a lawyer? A Yes, sir.

Do you hold any official position in Cook County?

States Attorney of Cook County.

Have you held any other official position in this

MR. ROGERS.

been first duly sworn, was examined in chief by Mr. Mas-

ters, and testified as follows~

Q Will you s tate your full name? A John E. W. Wayman.

Q Where do you live? A 1 live now at 59th and Madison

avenue, Chicago.

Q 'HO\' long have you 1 ived in Chicago? A Since 1894.

Q What is your age? A 1 will be forty years old the

16th of September.

Q

Q

Q

Q

A

Q

Q

Q That was in Chicago, was it? A Yes, sir.

Q And you have known him continuously here? A Yes, sir.

Q Ever since? A Ever since.

county, the County of Cook?

Q What are your politics? A Republican.

Q Do you know Clarence S. Darrow? A 1 do.

Q How long have you known him? A Well, 1 have known

lli. Darrow since 1900 about. That is when my acquaintance

firs t began.•
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7 tried cases on the north aide; and also socially.

8 Q Have you known him in political life? A Only to

9 know what his politics are, that is all.

and since 1 have been States Attorney, knOWing him as he

Merely as a fellow lawyer at the bar here;A

Q
.3966 I

ijave you known him and seen him at meetings of the I

Bar Associa tiona, and lIe etings of that kind? l
A No, 1 never saw him at a Bar Association meeting~

Q What haa been the nature and intimacy of your acquaintanc

I
I
i

With him?

1

2

3

4

5

6

"Cross-examin9.tion, by :.,1;. Keetch.

Q Was he in Court --you saw him in Court? A Yes, sir.

Q And so forth? A Yes, sir.

Q to you know the general reputation which Mr. Darrow

MR. KEETCH. (Reading)

Q Before you became States Attorney, you knew hin: at the

bar? A Yes, sir.

bore in the neighborhood in which he resides, previous

to the finding of thoseindictmentsagainst him, for truth,

honesty and integrity? A Yes.

Q What was that reputation? A Good.

Q What ia that reputation? A Good.

MR. MASTERS. That is all."

Q Mr. Wayman, do you live near Hr. Darrow? A No, When 1

say the community in which he resides, why 1 mean'O'hicago

'....here he practiced, rather than the place he lives.

Q You didn't have social intercourse With him? A Not

except knowing him as 1 know a lawyer at the bar here.

1------------------------::7\{';;-;m777m,~jarrl~,V--TIJ'1l"Bl<R-zrnv-
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Q Like you meet other lawyers at the bar? A Yes, sir.

Q Have you had any intimacy wi th him at all? A No, 1

would ~ot say intimacy.

Q Just- in a friendly way you have met him like you meet

and know all other lawyers? A Yes, sir.

Q During those years? A Well, 1 think 1 would go a

little further than that with Mr. Darrow, 1 think 1 knew

hirr better than 1 knew most lawyers in Chicago.

Q You did? A Yes, 1 knew him better as a lawyer.

Q As a la\vyer? A And a c it izen •

Q In a social way? A More socially when we ·would meet

out of Court than in Cour t, always very fr iendly •

Q Did you ever try cases with him? A No, 1 never

tried cases against Mr. Darrow or with him.

Q Eave you visited at his home? A No.

Q 1s your per~al knowledge of him simply confined to a

general way of meeting him inthe courts? A My general

knowledge of him, personally, yeSt

Q Now, with referenceto his reputation, you understand

what reputation is, 1:r. Wayman? A Yes, sir.

Q What is your idea of reputation, if you have one?

A My idea of general reputa ti::-n is what people do say about

a man and what they do not say about him.

Q Tha tis, it can be both? A 1 think it can 0 My idea of

general reputation is more what people do not say about a

man than what they do say about him.

I ~~



Q When you say you knew his reputation in the community

in which he li'l!es for truth, honesty and integrity, have

Q By wtom? A By lawyers.

Q Can you give the names of any of them? A Well, largely

.
it discussed until this indictment came up in California.

Since that 1 have heard it discussed.

1

2

3

4

·5

6

7

you heard him discussed? A No, sir • 1 have not hear d

8 around my office, arrong my assistants. Just whopl 1 cannot

9 name, 1 do not know; hut it has been a matter of general

10 comment at the office, arid was at that time, and 1 have

11 heard lawyers outside speak of it. 1 can name one 1 dis­

12 cussed the mat ter wi th •

13 Q '1'1.311 us who th at would be. . A Mr .Creekmur, one of my

or two if 1 could recollect.

14

15

per Bonal fr iends her e. 1 think 1 could name another one

Well, 1 don't know of any onel

(Signed) John E. W. WayILan. It

16 else that 1 can name outside of iM.Creekmur, and the men

17 around the office. Just a matter of general discussion.

18 MR. KEETCH. That is all.

19 MR. MASTERS. Th at is all.

20

21
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1 lfR ROGERS: ( Reading:)

2 "llILLIAM S. FORREST, produc ad as a wi tn €ss

3 on behalf of the defendant, being first duly sworn, was ex­

4 amined in chief b,y yr Masters, and testifie~ as follows:

5 Q yr Forrest, 'nll you please state your full name?

6 A William S • Forrest.

7 Q ~~ere do you live? A 3264 Groveland avenue, Chicago,

8 Illinois.

9 Q How long h~e you iived in Chicago? A Since the wonth

10 of August, l8?8.

21 paign of 1884.

22 Q An d have you known hlbm all that time in Chic ag01 Ill-

23 inois? A I hwe.

25 nature and intimacy of your acquaintanc e \nth him?

26 A I have known him as a fri end, and a fellow member of

I~e Chicago Bar and ... a public speake;. Does that

of it. That is, I hmre been located here. I have prac­

ticed here and elsewhere.

I wish you would state, Mr Forrest, what has been theQ

Q Have you ever held any offickal psotion at any time?

A I have not.

Q Do you know Clarence S. Darrow? A I do.

Q How long have you known him? A Since the political c

Q Your profession is that of a la'WY'er? A It is.

Q How long h~e you practiced the profession of the law?

A Since January, l8?9.

Q How mu.ch of that time in the City of Chicago? A All

24
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the Illinois Bar Association.

been a personality who has been very much discussed as a

public man and 8S 8 la\v,rer.

UR KEETCH: I obj ect to that on the gfound it is immaterial,

incompetent and irrelevant, and no foundation laid.

A He

A He has

I have lalovvn him 8S a member"A

I don,t believe I know him as a member of

Obj ection 01 errul ed.

A

In ,mat 'ley and in vmat avenues of discussion?Q,

little noticed or discussed here in Chicago?

THE COURI':

clation?

Q During the time, }Er Forrest, that you have lalown J.:fr

Darrow and had lalovm of him, I vdsh you would stat e whether

or not he has been a character or personality much or

has been concerned in a ~reat many political movements

in Chicago; his condnch in such movements has been discuss­

ed, privat·ely and public ly, and in th e newspapers. He has

participated in a ~reat many important trials in the City

of Chicago; trials which attracted great notice and he has

participated in pUblic trials and public hearings in ot

answer your question sufficiently?

Q, I 'will as~ you a question or two more. Have you lalown

him at meetings of the Bar Association of Chicago and of

the Bar Association of Illinois, ~8nd places of that kind?tt
f

of .the Chicago :Ear Associati~n, and I have met him at the

meetings of that As sociation.

Q, What would your answer be as to the Illinois Bar Asso-

UR roGERS: ( Heading:)

I
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I,
t
[

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

states. ftnd his cases, - his conduct of those cases, both

in the City of Chicago and elSe\vhere, have been discussed

during the past ten or twelve years, v elY generally among

the members of the Bar and also in the newspapers of the

City 0 f Chic ag0, and 0 th er n ewspap ers •

Q Do you mow the general reputation v.hich Ur Darrow

bore in the community ,in which he rewides previous to the

8 finding of. these indictment's egainst him for truth, hon-

reproach.

above reproach.

by Mr Keetch.

A friend of how many years standing? A Sine e 1884.

\Vhat might be called en intimate friend? A Yes, in

Q

Q

I have dined ~ith him and his f&~ily et his table and he

has dined with me and my family at my table. I have had e

great many discussions with him respECting his views,

this ",ray: I have been opposed to him in th e trial of cases.

I have never been associated 'ldth him in the trial of cases.

estj' and int egri ty? A I do.

v.hat was that reputation? A It \~es good; it was

Q What is that reputation? A It is now good and above

Q You said, Mr Forrest, th at you are a fri end 0 f 1!r

Darrow? . A I am.

lIB, :MASTERS: That is all.

1,~R KEETCH: (Reading:)

"CROSS-EX:AUI1TATION
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which views differed altogether from my views on nearly

every subj ret that a man coul d hold a view upon. except

in the practise of law.

Q I s e'e. .And you came up here in response to ,a request

or did you come voluntarily to testifY? A I was re­

quested to come by ]!'r !"asters.

Q And you realize, I presume. what the charges against

Mr Darrow are? A I didn't hear all your ~ords.

Q Pardon me. A yes.

Q I say you realize the the extent of what the charg e is

against Mr Darrow? A I know "mat it is.

Q Of course. anything you possibly could do for him.

if you couldeay a word for him you would do it? A I \\Ould.•

Q wtth reference to his reputation in the community in

which he lic es. do you mean by t hat the ci ty af' Chic ~o,

or is it confined to a more or less restricted area?

A I mean th e city 0 f Chic ago. I lmow nothing about the

reputation of 1fr Darrow else where, except in so far as I

might gather that reputation from what I have read about

him in magazines and newspapers pUblished out of the city

of Chicago.

Q I bad reference more particularly, Mr Forrest. as to

whether youy,ere a neighbor of his or not? A I have never

been a neighbor; I don't believe he has ever lived nearer

to me than probably a half mile.

26 Q You have heard him, as you sey. discussed as a pUbl"

1 ~_....;siLl'r'(:lLlnWJTltSiJ.:Yj..D.. h¥-F..D..D..D..D..L!II.wBiiUJ:Rtt,o:.'}~l----=I
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1 man by reason of his s tanding ,or his activities politically

2 and socialogically, I suppose? A yes.

3 Q :How, are you pesing your statement of his reputation

4 upon that, fact? A No, I am making my statement of his

5 reputation upon vvhat I have heard the jUdges of COok County

6 and the leading members of th e Chicago Ear say about Mr

7 Darrow from time to time, during the past 25 or 26 years,

8 and from what I have heard other persons say about him dur­

9 ing the same time. There has not been in the city of

10 Chicago during the past 25 years a man mose rotivi ties

11 as a 1 awyer and as a public man have been more generally

12 discussed, ·probably, than his activities.

13 Q ,And this discussion go es, you say, to thosse three vir-

14 tues mentioned, his truth, honesty and integrity?

15 A Yes, it does.

16 Q And you have discussed just in t hat limited way as to

17 his trhth and his honor and his integrity, -- you have dis-

18 cussed with people individually about those p:irticular

19 treits? A yes; especially during the past seven 0 r Eight

20 months.

21 Q Was there a need for a conversation, Mr Forrest? A I

22 didn't c etch that.

23 Q Was there a need for the particular congersation?

24 A Well, there has been, I should say, during the past

25 five or six months.

26 Q yes, but prior to that time? A lio. Prior

... 1
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1

2

3

time his reputation~~s discussed, so far as I know it to

have been discussed, about as arw lawyer's reputation would I
be discussed.

4 't You "know nothing of th e f acts of tlie case out in Cal-

5 ifornia? A Nothing whatever.

6 't .And therefore, there has been nothing here to change

7 his reputation in that regard as far ~.s it affects your

8 knowl edg e, OI' the knowl edg e of oth er Fsons in. the di scus-

9 sion of that? A· It has been stated, -- and it has been

10 stated in the Chicago newspapers, and stated quite cammon-

11 ly among the members of t he Bar of th e city of Chi cago

12 that a certain man was about to go upon th e witness stand :in

13 Chicago and give testimony t ending to show that he bribed

14 that jury out there and that he was hired to bribe that

15 jury by 1fr Darrow. That has been discussed, and the law-
I

you have discussed this matter wi th?m A

16

17

18

yers here don't believe it.

't Could you give the names

I

of any p articular persons whom I
Well, now, i t

19 has been so connnon here during· the past five or six months,

20 or probably less time than that, that I am not sure whether

21 I coul d give the names or not. I should s ay for a while

22 "nere about every lawyer that I met and about every 1 eadi~

23 ci tiz en of the city 0 f Chic t¥50 that I met.

24 't But you are not in a position to give ~ specific

25 dates or names? A No, but I should say hundreds of them.

That, of course, is a general statement. A yes, IQ

, ----""w=.al."'-W=lei""-ll""'lV"-"~=~!.l.l.L!.~-'
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1 was a matter of eve:7 day conversation. It Vias a matter of

2 conversation on the street car, in the court rooms, in the

3 barber shops, in the Illinois State :Bar Association meet-

4 ing h ere" last week.

5 Q That is with referenc e to sincfe the indictments were

6 found in Chic~o? A yeS, sine e the indictments were found

7 in California, or sine e ,i t\',es first stated that it ....ras

8 probable that an indictment would be returned against him •.
9 I can't tell when it commenced.

10 Q That is as e general discussion 'Which you have heard

months.

I was asking vdth regard to sp ~ific conversations

person about thev,'eather in Chic8€o during the past few

specific conversation vdth a specific person any more than

I could recall a specific conversation with a specific

well, I thought it \-as.·A

A Well, put the question ~ain,

A I don't believe I can recall a

I "vas not asking --

wi th specific persons?

Q

please.

Chicago, and so forth.

wi thont referenc e to arw particul~~r discussion t hat you

heard? A yes; that VIes the topic of general interest.
would

The qu estion"be tlDo you believe him guil tytl. :'and accompanyr

ing that question by the st~tement, tlNo, I don,t beliElV'e hi~
I

guiltytl. Nobody wer heard of him charg'ed in t:hat way in I

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

MR KEETCH: That is all. tt

J.IR ROG ERS : ( Reading: )
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2

UBEDIRECT EXRKINATION

By Mr lJasters:
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3 Q yr Forrest, this sUbject, or the need of discussing

4 Mr Darrow, which you say erose vnthin five or six months,

5 you mean by t hat about the time it was reported here that

6 he ias about to be indicted or had been indicted? A yes.

7 What I mean is, it all grew out of th e c:ccusation made

8 against him in California of participating in the bribing

9 of th e jury in the ![cNamara case.

10 Q I see. A prior to that time t here was no discussion,

11 that I remember, about his reputation except such as might

12 occur about any prominent member 0 f the Bar.

13 MR :MPSTEBS: I think that is all.

14 l\lR :BEETCH: Thank you very much.

15

16

17 llR ROGERS:

(Signed.) William S. Fo rrest. U

I intend, if your Honor please, to ask 1rr

--

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Darrow, upon thestand, about whom some of these men are.

They are not well known here, and we cannot produce them.

Would t here be· any obj ootion, ur Keetch, to anyone stating

who they are?

MR KEETCH: I pr efer the depositions go to the jury just

as they a~e. If you decide to bring it up later, then

that matter can be taken up at that time.

},ffi ROGERS: I could put someone on just before each depo-
/--- .

. t· (
s~ ~on.

\



1 Jm KEETCH:

';19-1- 7
,,) ... l

I think they had plenty of opportunity to state

2

3

who they were, and they availed thenselves of that oppor­

tunity.

4 Am ROGERS: I don t t think Mr lUll er did.
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1 :M:R ROGEBS: (Re':ading:),
2 tr.romI S. MILLER, call ed as a witness on be-

3 half of the defendant, being first duly sworn, was examined

4 in chi ef 'by Mr Masters, and testified as follows:

5 Q lrr Mi1.1er, please state your full name? A .rohn S.

6 laller.

7 Q Wh ere do you reside? A 1443 Astor street, Chic ego,

8 Illinois.

9 Q How long have you lived in the city of Chicago? A Abo~

10 thirty-eight years.

11 Q llnd your profession is that of a lawyer? A yes sir.

12 Q Did you ever hold a~ official position in this county?

13 A I\'vas corporation counsel of the city of Chicago for tWo

14 years, from 1891 to 1893.

15 Q Whose administration vms that, what m~or? A Under

16 Mayor Hempstead Washburn,snd then I was, a little later,

17 two or three years later, I was for two ysars a member

18 of the board of education of the city of Chicago. I

think those are all the pUblic positions I have held here.

Q Do you know the defen dant, Clarenc e S. Dafrow? A Yes

pnekard & Peckham at the present.

Q You have been practicing law in Chicago about the

A Miller, Starr,

A yeS sir, ever

\'hat is the name of your law flbrmf!Q

si r.

since I have been here.

length of time you have lived here?

I
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Q How long have you known him? A Oh, twenty to twenty­

five years, I should think.

Q Vas that mn Chicago all the time? A yes sir.

Q You didn't know him before he came here? A No sir.

Q What has been the nature and intimacy of your ecquaint-

mlce with him. A WhY, I have been brought into contact"
!

or was more about and following the time IV8S corporation

counsel, with Darrow. 'hite a good deal of that time, I

think, whi1e I was corporation counsel, he was counsel

for -- ~ssistant counsel connected vdth one of the railw~

companies.

MR llASTEB.s: The Northwestern, was it? A yes sir, the

Chicago & NOrthwestern. That brought him, of course of
"

his dusi tes, his professional duties, brought him very

frequen~lY into contQct. with the corporation counsel's

office. The railroads all have a great deal of business

wi th th e city. I saw quite a good deal of him at that

time. He was once, as I recollect it, connected with the

law department of th e city, and I knew him then fairly \T,'ell.

I was interested in that line of qu estions and practice, at

that time, as well as sinc 6 t the questions involving the

relations, and I was of course officially interested much

in those questinns when I was corporation counsel, and I

have always maintain ed the int erest; and Darrow v.as, both

from his professional connection with the city, and for

the short time that he was wi th the railroad company.
I

1----------- """""5('+/'(/#1'lfflU4-I/+<,hpl-----!!"tfJBHln-A-,A.lRZ"I"-
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1

2

That has been more or less a matter of interest between us,

and I have felt an interest in Darrow's professional

3 life and succ eSB. 'While during the late years I have not

ltiller?U

success.

UR KEETCH: Obj a::ted to on the same ground.

THE COURT: OVerruled.

was just before IVi8s corporation counsel. That would

have been my jJmpression, that it was before.

A That

Was he donnected with the corporation couns:Bl's office

It was JUdge Hutchinson, Jonas Hutchinson.

Did you know Darrow in Chic ago in politic a1 lif e, l,{r

Q

Q

Q

before, or after the time you were, 1,rr }Jl:iller? A Well,

I don't just recollect wh ether it 'iVaS before or after. It

was not during that time , but wh ether it was a Ii ttle be­

fore or a little, '; after, I don,t recolla::t. I don't

recollect the corpo ration counsel he was wi th now.

met him so often, it has been cauual, I have always kept

up the interest in him, and in his success, professional

1lR KEETCH: I presume this objection as stated runs to

all questions of that kind.

TEE COURT: Virtually th e same question. You make the same

obj ection1,' and the s arne ruling and the same obj a::tion

introduc ed to each and wery one of them.
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attention to the financial rewards in his selection of

I

f
lil

clientage, and that he was moved by his sympathies, sincere

sympathies, for the classes of people that he did a great

deal of professional labor for. That was astriking char­

fCteristic of him, I think, in the eyes of the lawyers,

Q The City Bar Association? A yes sir.

Q And the Illinois Bar Association? A -Yes sir.

Q During the time that you knew Darrow, and kn8\V of him,

I wish you would ple8se state whether he was a personality

Who v~s much or little in pUblic notice here? A Quite

a good deal. ...

UR ROGERS: (Reading:) "A Well, while I never was

of the same political faith as Darrow, or connected with him

yet,· I knew of him pretty well, and casual, rather casual

meetings.

Q Did you know him in social life? A No sir, I have

not. He lived in different portions of the city from me.

Q Did you know him in any associations of lawyers, bar

associations? A Yes.

Q ~~at form did that notice take? A Well, Darrow was.
a striking figure in his professional and public life, be-

cause of his professional work for, and, I think, his sin-

. cere sY1Ilpathies with the labor elements, the labor 'peoplet

and the poorer or less fortunate, and the settlement work­

ers and other workers for those classes. I think the gen­

eral impression of him \~s that he sacrificed, or paid less

,
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any rate•. lnd then hisabilitYi he was a very excellent

speaker, and an attractive personality, a man· that could

influenc e and sway juri es as well as audi enc es, I think

very largely from his earnestness cmd his sincerity, and

his feeling deep feeling fo r those peop1 e, but also he

was an eloquent man. ~

Q. This notice, Mr Miller, that you have mentioned, did I

itt ake place in th e pUblic press here, or among pro­

fessional people, end among the citizens of Chicago by

word of mouth? A Oh, I should think by both.

Q. What has be en, in a general \V8Y,lIr Miller, I mean,

only in a general way, your lin e of professional ro tivi ty

since you ceased to be corporation counsel?"

:MR KEETCH: Obj ected to as incompe tent, irrelevant and

imma t erial.

THE COURT: Objection (1/ erruled.

]I!R ROGERS: (Reading:) itA Well, I have been wtive in

anything t hat I cihuld get to do. I am a general praftition­

er, in all sorts of cases.

Q. Do you know the general reputation which Ur Darrow

bore in the community in \7hich he resides, pr evious to

the finding of these indictm,.ents, against hirnJt for truth,

honesty and integrity? A I think so.

Q. 'What was that reputation, Mr nill er? A Good.

Q Q. putting it in the present tense, what is that

reput ation? A Good. 1I



3983

1 lr,:R KEETCH: ( Heading: )

2

3 :By Mr Keetch:

4 Q 1,fr Uiller, was 1fr Darrow ever in your of'fice? A No

5 sir -- you mean associated with me in any way?

6 Q yes. A NO.

7 Q Your feeling for him, however, has been one of friend-

8 ship? A Oh, yes, and --

9 Q

10 nJW.

11 Q

And admiration? A Quite a bit of admiration for Dar-

.And you have come in respons e to a r equ est for a depo-

12 sition of this character? A yes, yes sir, I did.

13 Q And if you could do him any good by doing so, you "ould

14 gladly do it? A yes t If I could do it prop erly and do

15 him any ·good that I thought he deserved, I should be

16 very glad to do it.

17 UR KEETCH: Th at is all.

18 UR lfASTERS: That is all.

19
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(Signed.) john S. ~ller.u
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MR "ROGERS: .rust for the purpose of explaining this depo­

sition, VI.e want to call a witness, that is all.

CHARLE3 McGAVIN, a witness call eel on behalf

of the defense, being first duly sworn, testified as fol­

lows:

DIRECT BXAMINATI01T

]'J~R ROBERS: What is your name? A Charles UcGavin.

Q '~ere do you live? A At the pI' esent time I am living

at 1115 South Magnolia avenue t this city.

Q Ever live in Chicago? A I did.

Q Hold official positions? A yes sir, I did.

Q Please state them? A Well, I was assistant State

Attor-ney in Chicago for two or three ~rs, and a member

of Congress from that city for four years.

Q That is a member of cong ress of the Uni ted States?

A yes sir.

Q A member of two congresses there? A Yes sir.

Q Do you know John S. Miller, whose deposition I just

read? A I do.

Q Who is he?

1m KEETCH: We obj ect to th at upon the groun:l it is incoro-.
patent, irrelevant and immaterial. Your Honor please,

these depositions were taken in Chicago; the men had full

opportunity to reply to the questions there, and the.1

reply. It seems to me that this proceeding is Wholly'
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1 regular, wholly irrelevant and incompetent, to call some-

2 one in to testify about a man 'MlO has givan hi s d eposi~

3 tion already; absolutely incompetent at this stage.
,

\

4 THE COURT: The obj ootion is Olerruled..

5 A Well, I will state that .Tohn S. Uiller is perhaps the nm

6 prominent or one of the most prominent members Qif the

7 bar of Chicago. He is a man YJ'he is engaged in nearly all

8 of the great cases there involving corporations -- cor-

9 poration lm,vyer more than anything else. He has been

10 engaged, I think, in \mat are known as the Beef Trust

11 cases and the Standard Oil cases •.

12 :MR "ROGERS: You remember any connection he has with th e

13 Standard Oil Company? A yes, he was one 0 f th e 1 eading

14 counsel in th e Standard Oil Case in which ~hey --

15 Q... He is, as a matter of fact, leading counsel for the

16 Standard Oil Company and .Tohn D. Rockefeller? A So I

17 understand.

18 Q Do you know.Tohn Harrick? A No, I don't know Mr

19 F.arrick.

20 Jl,fR RaGERS : Well, you may eross- examine.

21

22 CROSS-EXMlINATION

23 UR KEETCH: 'What ':.'1:IS th e name, pI ease? A Charles MCGavin.

24 Q Were you in th e court room this morning by s'tlbpeena?

25 A No sir, I just came in to listen.

26 Q .Tust simply a casual visit here? A yes sir.



else.

THE COURT: That is all.

Q Were yOll requested to be here this morning? A No sir.

Q, Do you know Ur Darrow? A yes si r.

Q, YOll are just a visi tor from Chicago? A No, I am 10-.
cated here. in Los Angeles at the present time.

A Yes si r..rust h appmed in to th e court?

That is all.

THE COURT: just a moment. This oral ~idence is received,

and I presume offered only upon the theor,y that it was a

matter not gone into fully at the time this d aposi tion

vas taken, and in order to cure that Olersight, permitted

at this time. It is irregular, as Mr Keetch says, but

the irregularity can only be cured in thatvmy.

MR KEETCH: I just want the record to sho'" my obj ection.

JvfR ROGEHS: A matter of order, I think, more than amrthing

h.ffi RO GERS :

MR ROGERS:

MR KEETCH: That is all.
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1 MR ROGERS: (Reading:)

2 "jOHN C. GILLm~, produced as a witness on

3 behalf of the defendant, being first duly sworn on oath,

4 was ex:arllined in chief by Mr J:r8sters and testifi ed as fol­

5 lows:

Please state your full name? A John C. Gillen.

How long have you lived in the city of Chicago?

All rrJ;f Ii fe.

6 Q

7 Q

8 Q

9 A

v.here do you live? A 2542 Wallaee street.

10.Q How long is that, Father? A Fifty years.

11 Q what is your calling in life? A Catholic Priest.

12 Q. 'What is your church he re in town? A All Saint IS.

13 Q Has your ministerial work been confined entirely to

14 the City of Chicago, County of Cook and State of Illi­

15 nois? A Entirely, with the exception of eight months.

16 ~

17 Q

And ""here \vas that? A In Lamont.

That is in this county, is it? A Yes; thirty miles

18 from Chicago.

19 Q Do you know the defendant, Clarence S. Darrow? A I do.

20 Q How long have you known him? A At least 12 years.

21 Q Where have you knovvn him? A Here in Chicago.

22 Q Uo other pl~e? A NO.

23 Q, Vhat has' been the nature and intimacy of your acquaint.

24 ance"', ". with him? A In business principally, busin ass

25 and somewhat social.

26 1 MR ~rASTERS: Q H...... e you known him in political life he
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1 A . No, I have no t.

2 Q or in professional Ii fa? A In professional life, yes.

3 Q DuriI\g the time that you hmre known yr Darrow, the de­

4 fendant, I wish you 'AOuld state whether he has been much

5 or little in pUblic notice in the city of Chicago, COunty

6 of Cook and state of Illinois? A He has been.

7 Q Do you know the general reputation which Mr Darrow
,

8 bore in th e community in which he resides preiiious to .th e

9 finding of these indictments C\gainst him for truth', honesty

10 and integrity, do you mow that reputation? A I do.

11 Q What was that rep.1tation? A The very best.

12 Q Now, I will ask you the question in the preseht tense:

13 What is that rep.1tation? A The same.

14 HR IvrASTEBS: That:J.s all ,Father.

15 UR KEErCH: No questions.

16

17 MR -:-lOGERS: (Reading:)

(Signed.) John C. Gillen lt
•

lt

"RICHARD E. BURKE, produced as a witness

on behalf of the defendant, being first duly sworn, was

examinei in chief by Mr Uasters, and testifi at as follows:

18

19

20

21 JUdge, will you please state your full name? A Rich-

22 ard E. Burke.

23 iVhere do' you reside? A 421 South Central Park avenue,

24 Chicago, Illinois.

25

1

:g, ;rudge, as you

26 C? A "38.

are a young man, I vdl1 ask you your



1 Q Do you hold any official position in this county?

2 A I do.

3 Q What is it? A J"udge or the Superior Court.

4 Q Have you held any other official position than that

5 of J"udge cf the Superior Court? A Yes.

6 'Vihat is it? A I was a prosecuting attorney for the

7 ci ty.

8 Q l~en "vas that, J"udge? A I would SlV about 1901 or

9 t 0,2.

10

11

Q. Anything else? A I was a member of the legislature.

Q For how many terms? A For two terms, four years.

12 Q When \rere you first elected? A In 1902.

tion is I was a member of the 43rd and 44th General Assam-

•

have you known him? A practically since I

That carried you up to 1906? A My best recoIl EC-

Q When were you admitted to t:re bar? A Ivvas admitted

to the bar in 189?,

this city? A I was.

Q That VIas in thestate or Illinois? A yes.

Q. And you have practiced your profession from that time

until you were elected to the bench? A I did.

know the defendant, Clarence Darrow? A I dO,

Q

Q. Before th e time th at you were elected to the bench,

state "rhether or not you w ere in the practice of lzaw in

bly.

Q Do you

25

1

:er:f well.

26 LHOW long
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1 have been pacticing law.

2 Q, You knew him as a lawyer here? A I did.

3 Q, Did you knOYl him il1 political life? A I did.

4 Q, State vvhether or not he was a member of the I Egisla-

5 ture of Illinois at the s arne time that you were?
-

6 1m KEETCH: Objected to as incompetent, irrelerant and

7 immaterial.

8 THE COURT: Overruled.

9 1m ROGERS: (Reading:) "A yes sir, lne\vas.

10 MR MASTERS: Q, Was that your first or second term that

11 he was also a member of the legislature?"

12 lfR KEETCH: The sa'l'Ile obj ection.

13 THE COURT: Overruled.

141m "ROGERS: ( Reading: ". "A The first session.

15 Q, During the time that you knew Mr Darrow, J"udg e, was

16 he a man ,-mo was much or Ii ttle in public notice in the

17 city of Chicago, and state of Illinois?"
. .

18 1ffiKEETCH: fame obj ~tion.

19 THE COURT: Overruled.

20 HR "ROGERS: (Reading:) "A He \78S in political notice.

21 Q, Did you ever have any professional relationship with

22 him? A I did.

23 Q, When \vas that?"

24 HR mETCH: The s arne obj eo t ion.

25 THE COURT: OVerruled.

261m ROGERS: (Reading:) "A Well, more or less covering

1 I...::..)Y ...=::..:.:..::~...=::.....=::..l
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1 the period I knew him.

2 Q Did you ever h~e any particular professional relation-

3 ship with him? tt

l"fR BEETCH: The same obj ection.

THE COURT: OVerruled.

4

5

6 MR ROGERS: ( Reading: ) itA We dealt in lawsuits

1

I
together I

7 for and ~ainst one another.

8 Q During the time you were a member of the 1 egislature

9 I vdll ask you tm state whether any question arose as to

10 appropriation of money for \"lhat is kno'l,m as the Illinois

11 & l,fichigan canal."

12 IvLR KEETCH: Obj ~ted to as incompl tent, irrelevant and

13 immaterial.

14 THE COUR[': OVerruled.

1,ffi roGERS: ( Reading:'15

16 Q

"A Yes.

I mean th e time you were a member and he.,vas also a

17 member of the legislature?"

18 MR IEETCH: The same obj action.

19 THE COURI': Overruled.

20 MR ROGERS: (Reading: ) "Did th e subj ect matter of that

21 appropriation develop into any professional relationship?

22 A yes sir, it did.

23 Q Between you and the defendant, Clarence Darrow?"

24 MR KEETCH: The same obj ection.

25 TEE COURT: oVerruled.

26 l[R ROGERS: (Reading:) "A yes.
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1 Q Will you state '~af that was and tell about it? If

2

3

1m KEETCH: The s arne obj ection.

THE COURT: OVerrol 00.

4 1m ROGERS: (Heading:) The 43rd General Assembly had "

5

6

passed an 'appropriation for th e purpose of maintaining the

old Illinois &Michigan canal, the ,appropriation amountirg

7 to $152,950. In th e 1 egislature of which Mr Darrow was a

}IR ROGERS: I will not insist.

vote was on that subj ect?1f

seem to be arriving anywhere. Counsel says hedesires to

I r

After the bill had passed

Proceed now. 1f That goes back to

If I may interrupt you there, do you kno-w what his

to the unconstitutionality of the appropriations.

obj ection. (Reading:)

is, (Reading) IfQ

Q

the House, and Senate and signed by the Governor, I call ad

on the States Attorney of Sangamon county, advising him

of the fight I had IDIlde before the House with reference.

the witness' personal knowledge, and does not go to th e

reputation, all af this.

THE COURr: I assumed th EU'v,ere preliminary, but they don't

the question to which your Honor has already overrul ad en

MR KEETCH: The same obj action. All these matters go to

member, this appropriation was passed. Before th e appro­

priation became available --

waive it, though.

lJR ROGERS: IV'Jaive t hat one question. 'lhe hext question

I
II ..:..:..:.:...:..:..:.:...:...I..:...)y..:.....:..:..:.:...:..:..:.:...:..:..:.:.=.:.~-
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I don't think that is competent, Mr Rogers.

Simply a ''''<late of time.

Shows my connection at that time wi th him.

yes sir, personal matters, entirely.

In a f~v moments it shows the association be-

THE COURT:

lfR KEETCH:

MR DARROW:

1m KEETCH:

MR ROGERS:

tween Governon Deneen of Illinois, the present Governor

of Illinois, lrr Barnes, now jUdge Barnes, and the conduct

of the case by 1[1' Darrow for the State of Illinois, for

nothing, volunteering his services, and his acquaintance

with all those men.

THE COU'RI.':· Those matters, I think, would not,be competent.

It is not necessary that the yTitness should know or recite

those things in order to enable him to qaality to give his

opinion as to the general reputation of Mr Darrow for

ceived assurances from the states Attorney of Sangamon

County that he would fil e a bill restraining the payment of

the money, which money, under the laws of our state, be­

came available on the 1st of July of the same year. I

was disappointed in the States Attorney ofSSngamon County,

on appointments he had made ,nth me, and I then confer­

red ,nth the then States Attorney 'of Cook County, the now

present Governor of this state, G~ernor Deneen __ u

MR KEETCH: Pardon me. I think you must see from the na­

ture of this recital of all this man's en~a~ements with

Mr Darrow cannot h81e any possible relation to this case;

it hasn't apy connection \nth this case.
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truth, honesty and integrity. The objection of the Dis­

trict Attorney, is sustained.

lfR ROGERS: eReading:) "Q During th e time th at you

have known 1Jr Darrow, .rudge, has he been a man much or lit­

tle in public notice in the city of Chicago and state of

Illinois? A He has been known much in public life.

Q Well, in what vrey? A Favorably.

Q I mean politically, legally, or literary, socially or

just in what way? I mean viheth er he had been much in pUb­

lic notice? A He was.

Q In what particular? A In a legal sense, in a political

way, and in a literary way.

Q Did th at public notic e take the form of ne\'i'spaper

comment, or did it take the form of conversations amongst

the citizens of Illinois? A Both.

Q, D:> you know the general reputation which },fr Darrow

bore in the communi ty in ',ilhich he resides, previous to

thef.inding of: these indictments against him, for truth,

han es ty and intag ri ty? A I do.

Q \Vhat was that reputation? A Good.

Q Futting it in the present tense, 'That is that reputa­

tion now? A Good.

UR lifASTERS: That is all.

1fR KEETCH: That is all.

esigned.) Richard Burke. 11
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1 MR, ROGERS. (Reading) "FRANCIS S. PEABODY, produced

2 as a Witness on behalf of the defendant, having been first

3 duly sworn, was examined in chief by ~~ Masters and testi-

4 fied as follows:

5

6

7

8

9

Q State your full name, please? A Francis S- Peabody.
/'

Q Where do you reside? A My home is in Hinsdale.

Q Prior to that time you lived in Chicago, did you?

A Yes, 1 have always lived in Chicago, My hon.e is
:7

.. ;here, my summer home in the country. 1 have given

10 up Tr,y winter home, but 1 am going to take it up again in the

11 fall.

12 Q How long have you resided in Chicago? A Since 1859.

13 Q That is pretty near all your life? A Since ,my birth.

14 Q What is your business, ;,ir, Peabody? A 1 am chiefly in

15 the coal business.

16 Q What is the name of the company or partnership you are

17 connected With in the coal business? A My principal and

18 oldest concern is the 'Peabody Coal CEn1pany". 1 am interested

in a number of other concerns.

held any position that paid me anything.

Q That is, any public position? A No pUb1io position

1 never

Q 'l:~ave you ever held any official position in this county?

A 1 have been President of the Public Library Board, and

served as a Board member for a number of years-

Q What relation do you sustain to the Peabody Coal Corr.pany?

President.

19
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immaterial.

THE COURT. Objection overruled.

paid me anything.

Q Were you at any time officially connected with any

MR • MASTERS. Q ln what capaci ty 'l"

Uffi. KEETCH. Objected to as incompetent, irrelevant and

I
I

I
I

law?1

A yes, sir.

"A 1 have been Chairman of the

Have you r.eld any official position withQ

Except working wi!fih them.

weren t t you admi tted to the bar, or didn 1 t you study

the national organization, or with any political party?

A

Q

political, parties in this County?

Cook County Democratic Central Con~mittee, and 'l'reasurer of

the same i Chairman of the Sound Money Democracy in Mr.

Bryan's first callpaign and Treasurer of the same. 1 am

interested myself today in state politics and some in

national politics.

MR • ROGERS. (Beading.)

NR • MASTERS:

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18 . A 1 studied law, but was never admitted to the bar.

19 Q Do you know Clarence S. Darrow, the defendant? A 1 do.

now long have you known him?

years.

A 1 should think 20 or 25

22

23

24

25

26

Q ~tere have you known him? A In Chicago.

Q What has 'been the nature and intimacy of your aoquaintanc

With him? A At times we have been quite intimate.

Q gave you known him in political life in Chicago? A 1

have.
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1 Q And in social life? A Yes.

2 Q You have known him or knovm of him in sociological and

3 philanthropic work in this city?"

4 MR KEETCR:

5 immaterial.

Obj ected to as incompetent, i rrel want and

6 THE COURT: Overruled.

7 lfR ROGERS: ( Reading: ) "A I have been opposed to him on

8 a great many proposi tions.

9 Q I men have you known of those activities? A Natur-

10 ~lly, he has been in the pap ers a good deal.

11 Q During the time you have known him I ,viII fisk you to

12 state whether or not he VJaS a man YJ"ho \.,as much or Ii ttle

fo re in th e communi ty in which he resides, previous to the

17 finding of these indictments egainst him, for1Dtth , hones­

18 ty and integrity? A yes.

19 Q What was that reputation? A His reputation was good.

20 A clean man.

21 Q Put it in the present tense, \mat is that reputation

22 now? A Unless those indictments have changed it, I see

23 no reason 'why the reputation should be changed.

24 UR liASTERS: That is all.

25 I l~R REETCR:

261
I
!

That is all.

( Signed) Francis S. Peabody."
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1 THE COURT: We ,viII take a recess at this time, gentlemen.

2 (Jury admonished. Recess for five minutes.)

3,

4 (After recess.)
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MR. ROGERS. (Reading) "BUR'TON HANSON, produced as

a witness on behalf of the defendant, being first duly

sworn, was examined in chief by Mr. Masters, and testified

as follows:

Q Mr. Hanson, please state your full name? A Burton

Hanson.

Q Wher e do you 1 iv e? A Chicago.

Q nO'll long have you lived in Chicago? A Nearly 22 years j

it wi 11 be 22 years in July.

Q What is your profession? A Lawyer.

Q What interest are you identified wi th in the practice

of your profess ion? A With the Chicago, Milwaukee & St.

Paul Railway Coupany.

Q In what capacity? A At present, the general counsel

of the con.'Pany •

Q .L1ave you ever held any offic ial pos i tion in th is Coun ty

or any other place? A No, sir.

Q to you know the def endan t, Clar ence S. Darrow? A Yes,

8 ir •

Q HoW long have you known him? A 1 have known Mr.

Darr ow about 25 years.

Q And all tha t time in the Ci ty of Chicago? A Yes, sir.

1 knew him before 1 came to Chicago.

Q Where did you come from to this city? A Milwaukee.

Q, Were you practicing law there before you carte here?

A 1 was with the Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul Railway

Company there.



Q What has been the nature and intimacy of1

2 with him, Mr. Larrow, 1 mean'? A 1 became

1;000 I

j!our acquaintanC!1

acquainted with

3 him when I was located at Milwaukee, with the Chicago,

4 Milwaukee & St. Paul Railway, by reason of his connection

5 with the Chicago & Northwestern Railroad company here in

6 Cbicago.

7 Q now many years ago was that? A That is about 25 years

8 ago.

9 Q What was his position as you recollect it With the

10 Chicago & Northwestern Railroad? A 1 think he had the

11 title of general attorney, if 1 recollect rightly, with the

12 Chicago & Northwestern_

13 Q In that way you became acquainted wi th him, did you?

14 A Yes, sir.

15 Q In what other relations did you know him, Mr. Hanson?

16 A Why, after comir.g to Chicago 1 met him from tirr:e to

personality who was much or little discussed? A WeD,
Darrow, 1 tbink has been discussed somewhat t~n;ore J.!an

17

18

19

20

21
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25

26

time. 1 didnt know many lawyers at that tirr.e in Chicago,

and he was one of rr.y acquaintances, and then at different

times after he left the Northwestern Company, he h::id liti­

gation against the Chioago, Milwaukee & St. Paul, and

1 met him in that way; and then we used to meet sooial)y

in a way, and we would talk over matters, one thing and

another$ that has been my relation with him.

Q During the time you knew him and knew of him here, 1

wish you would state whether or not he was a character or

I
I
1 1...::.),11 :...:.:.:.::.:...:.:.:.::._



1

2

3

4

4UOI I
lawyers generally are in Chicago, 1 should say. I
Q That was in what particular? A Well, he has been con- I

I
nected with the social questions, you might call them, laborl

quee tions.

5 Q How about the political questions! A Well, the same

6 thing, in a way, I think. 1 dont recolleot of his holding

7 any elective office; he may have had 60me appointement.

8 Q I mean how were the comments or discussions of him with

9 reference to political matters, as well as to social and

10 economic questions?

11 TPEWITNESS. Will you read th~t question, please?

12 (Question read.)

13 MR. MAS TERS . Discuss ions, I mean, as to his poli tical

14 aotivities, as well as of social and economic activities?

15 AYes , sir.

16 Q Do you know the general reputation which Mr. Darrow

Q, Hr. Hanson, you say you have known him for something like

25 years? A Yes, sir.

Q And you base the statement of his reput~tion being g

bor e in the corLn,uni ty in 'ltJi.ch he res ides '1 A 1 do.

Q previous to the fin'ding of these indictments against

him, for truth, honesty and integrity? A l~ do.

Q What was that reputation? A It wa.s good.

Q What is that reputation now? A It is good.

MR. MASTERS. That is all. tl

"Cr oss-examinat ion, By ~.!r. Keetch:1m. KEETCH. (Reading)
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in the community inwhich he lives for truth~ honesty and

integrity upon what, sir? A Upon Iq acquaintance with

him and his general reputation among the people here in

Chicago?

Q. 'Pas his truth, hones ty and integr i ty been disa.BS edj

A Not particularly, probably, in the sense that you

mean it, but generally as he has been discussed as a man

;0-1' good s tanding, not only as a lawyer but as a oi tizen

here.

Q. Th'J.t is what you mean when you say that his reputation

is good? A Yes, siri that it is good among the people

here in Chicago.

MR. KEETCH. 1 think that i6 all. Thank you very much.

MR. MASTERS. That is all, Mr. Hmson. Thank you.

(Signed) Burton Hanson. It
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l-lR ROGERS: (Reading:)

tt:fOIDif P. lJcGOORTY, produced as a wi tness on

behalf of the defendant, having been first duly sworn, was

ex:amined in chi ef by Mr Masters, and testifi Ed as follows:

Q Please state your full name? A :fohn Patrick Mc­

Goorty.

Q Where do you live? A 6204 Kimbark Avenue, Chic ego ,

Illinois.

Q How long have you lived in the city of Chicago?

A About twenty-six years.

Q W1at· is your ~e, JUdge? A Forty-five.

Q Are you holding any official position in this County

at the present time? A Circuit :fudge.

Q When were you elected Circuit JUdge? A Novembef t 1911·.

Q That is, :fudge of the Circuit Court of Cook County,

Il1inoms? A yes sir.

Q Have you held any other official position in this

County or State? A I was president of the County Civil

Service Commission, from December, 1910, to March, 1911;

I was a member of the Illinois General Assembly for eight

years. I was a member of the Chicago Charter Convention

while it was in being; I have been appointed on various

commissions·, a Delegate to th e Congress on Uniform. Divorce

Laws by Governor Deneen a few years ~o.

Q Before the time you were elected to the Circuit Court

of Cook County, you ,~re in the practice of the profess
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1 of law in this connty and state, were you? A yes sir.

2 Q And in this City? A yes sir.

3 Q For hoVl many years, .Judge? A Well, commencil~ with

4 .June of 1892; about nineteen years.

5 Q. You were admitted to the bar in this state, I believe?

6 A yes.

7 Q \Vhat year was that? A .June, 1892.

8 Q When I say admitted to the bar, I mean initial~ here?

9 A yes sir.

10 Q .And you were not admitted in any other state first?

11 A l'Io sir.

12 Q Do yon knOVl C1~ence S. Darrow, the defendant i n this

13 case? A yes sir.

14 Q How long have you knovm him? A About twenty years.

15 Q \11e r e have you known him? A In Chic ag 0 •

16 Q. What has been th e nature and intimacy of your ~quaint­

17 ance with him? A Well, I met him frequently socially

18 and professionally. We were neighbors, I think, for per­

19 haps three or four years last past, and my meetings vv.ith

20 him have been comra ratively frequent, taking into consider-

21 ation the size of the city.

22 Q Do you know the general reputation which 1fr Darrow

23 bore in th e communi ty in which he resides, previous to

24 the fiftdling of tilse indictments against bim, for truth,

25 honesty and integrity? A Yes sir.

26 Q \~t \~S that reputation? A Ver,y good.
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And putting it in tlw present tense, what is that repu-

2 tat ion now? A I still regard it. as good. He still en­

3 joys the confidenoe of this oommunity.

4 MR MASTERS: That is all. U

5 UR KEEl'CH: (Reading:)

6 " CROSS-EXMiINATION

7 B,y Nr Keetoh:

8 Q, Has this matter of the indiotments been disoussed

9 mtloh in Chioago sinoe they were returned? A Well, I think

10 they have. I was absent from the oity, I was in Florida

11 at the time he was repo !'ted to hm'e been indio ted, and I

12 cannot say of my own kn0\7ledge that I h8lJ'e heard very

13 muoh disoussion, although I have heard some.

14 What do you base your statement on that his reputation

15 is still good in the oommuni ty? A Well, from the expres-

16 5ions of confidenoe that I have heard expressed by various

17 members of the bar.

18 Q, You have disoussed it with them, hme you? A V/ell,·

19 to some ex:tent. Not to any oonsiderable ectent, but the

20 matter has been referred to. I oannot say that I have made

21 any lengthy disoussion of it with any ~rtiolllar person

22 that I c ai"'! nO\>7 reo all.

23 Q, And when you said, "oommunity", YOll meant the larger

24 oommuni ty of Chic ego? A yes sir.

25

26

Q, And not the particular neighborhood in whioh you live?
A No, I'am. referring to the city ingeneral.
J:IR KEETCH: . That is all.
MR MASTERS: That is all.

(Signed.) John P. JloGoorty."
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was born.

Q Vh ere do you reside? A 3335 Warren Avenue.

Q How long hav e you lived in th e Ci ty 0 f Chic~0, County

of Cook, and state of Illinois? A Since 18?5.

Q That was the year of your birth? A Yes, the year I

1,fR ROGERS: ( Reading: )

uJOHN E. OvVENS, produced as a witness on

behalf of thedefendant, having been first duly swom, was

~mainere in chief by Mr Masters, an~ testified as follows:

Q Will you please state your full nWle, JUdge? A John

E. Owens.

Q Do you hold any official position in this county, JUdge?

A At JX esent I am County JUdge of COok County.

Q Elected what year? A F~ected i n November, 1911.

Q Did you hold any other official position in this countY?1

A I did. I was City Attorney from 1901 to 1903.

Q That is Ci ty Attorney of th e City of Chic ~o , COok

. County, Illinois? A Of Chicago, yes; t;nd }£aster in Chance r··

of the Circuit Court for six years.

Q That was from when to when? A From the time that I I
was City Attorney up to the pr-esent -- until I was

elooted Judg e of the County Court.

Q Have you held any other official positions? A None.

Q When were you adm~tted to the bar, JUdge? A Admitted

to the bar in 1896.

Q Did you p rac tic e your profession until th e time you
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1 were elected City Attorney? A 1896 0ra 1897. I Vw8S admit-

2 ted to the bar when I was just about 21. :My license did

3 not issue -- I passed the bar examination, but I think my

4 license did not issue until a few months after that time,

5 under thestatute. I think it was 1896 or 1897.

6 Q From the time of your admission until you were el ected

7 Ci ty Attorney, you were practicing your professioh? A Yes.

8 Q And from the time your incumbency of th at offic e c eas-

9 ed, until youyvere elected judge, were you practicing your

10 profession of law? A I ViaS.

11 Q In the City of Chicago, County of Cook, State of

12 Illinois? A I was.

13 Q Were you admitted to the bar in this state? A I was.

14 Q And ~7here else? A No.

15 Q Do you know the defendant, Clarence S. Darrow? A I

16 do.

17 Q How long have you kno'im him, jUdge? A· I have knovn

18 him cbout fifteen years.

19 Q '~ere have you knovm him? A I have lmOVv!l him in

20 Chicago.

21 Q Any other place? A No.

22 Q What has been the nature end intimacy of your ac-

23 Cf.1aintanc e 'wi th him? A well, I was brought in personal

24 contact vnth lir Darrow first, I lmew Mr Darrow personally,

25 about fifteen years ~o, ~nd more especially I~as brought

26 in personal contact with him about eight or nine years
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:B As . t· IIar SOCJ.8 J.on.

that connection.

been prominently mentioned as a ceildidate for l,[~or.

I am, yes, the bar association, th e Illinois State

Did you know him in political life in this city? A I

1903? A 1903, yes sir. , 1fr Darrow VJ8S mentioned, as

A

Q

did; I knew him very "\':ell in politicl'~ life. I knew Mr

Darrow during the last Harrison campaign, I thihk it was,

when I was a c andidat e for City Attorney. yr Darrow had

a member of the various org&lizationsof lavvyers?

Q Have you known him in social life in this city?

A I have very v,~ll.

Q You have <:'~ ready covered professional life? Are you

I~as mentioning, prominently mentioned, in connection

with the office, and I talked vlith l,fr Harrison, now the

present Mayor, talked \'lith l,fr Darrow, talked with the

Chairman of the Democratic County Central Connnittee, Mr

Carey, at that time, and of course, ~~ all urged Mr Darrow
I was a candidate myself for City Attorney; .

not to become a candidate, from a selfish standpoint; we
-\

all wanted to be elected. Bnt I talked with Mr Darrow in

Q

Q. What year was that, JUdge? A That VIBS in the year

I think it was 1893 -- 1903.

when I was City Attorney; and it was through my official

capacity as City Attorney that I knew him and met him in

the trial of law suits egainst the city of Chicago,.

and personally.
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}!R KEETCH: All this is objectionable as a matter of form.

That VIas my obj e ction at that time, ~nd I add the further

objection it is incomretent, irrelevant and innnaterial.

THE COURT: Obj ection overruled.

MR EIDETCH: That is, wi th respect to the Ci ty Attorneyship,

md so forth, in connection with that.

THECOURr: His standing and status in the community.

:MR KEETCH: I am referting to the vii tn €Ss' status in the

conununi ty.

THE COURT: yes, th e obj ection is OJ erruled.

llR ROGERS: (Heading:) "Q Are you a member of the

Mnerican Bar Association? A I think not, no.

Q Have you known the defendant, DarroW', in trese organ-

izations of lawyers here in the City of Chic~o? A I

have.

Q During t.he time that you have knovm Darro'w, J'udg e, I

wii~ you would state whether or not he has been a man who

was much or little in the publicnhtice here? A yr Dar­

row has been considerably in public notic e. In fact,

I think few men of Chicago have had the pUblicity that 1Tr

Darrow has had. I always regarded ur Darrow as one of the

greatest men in pUblic life here in Chic~o.

Q Do you knaw the general reputation which Mr DarroW'

bore in the conmmnity in which he resides, previous to

the finDing of these indictments ~ainst him, for fTIlth

honesty and integrity? A I do.
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Q, That is that reputation? A It was good.

Q, Putting it in the present tensy, what is that reput"a-

tion now? A .rust as good.

UR MASTERS: That is all t .rudg e.

lfR KEETCH: That is all, JUdge Owens.

(Signed.) John S. Owens."
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lAR. ROGERS. (Reading) "MARCUS A. KAVANAGH, produced

as a wi tness on behalf of the defendcn t, being first duly

sworn, was examined in chief by :,1r. Masters, and testified

as follows:

Q, Judge, wi 11 you please state y'Jur full name? A MarcBS

A. Kavanach.

Q Where do you live? A Chicago.

Q HOW long have you resided in the city of Chicago?

A Since 1889.

Q Do you hold any official position in this county?

A 1 am one of the jUdges of the Super lor Cour t of th is

county.

l~ How long have you held that poal tion? A Since 1898.

Q Before thatt irr;e were you in the practice of the 1~

in this city? A 1 was.

Q Fow how lliany years? A Since 1889.

Q Were you initially admitted to thepractlce of law in

this state or some other state? A No, I was admitted in

the state of Iowa.

Q Can you remelliber the date? A In 1877.

Q Have you te1d any other position in this county than

that of judge? A Well, prior to 1898, I was Colonel of

the Seventh Illinois Infantry, Spanish-American war. Was

judge on the bench out in Iowa, Judge of the District Court

in the Ninth Judicial district.

Q In vlhat ci tyY A In Des Moines. And was city attar
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1 of that town a couple of terms.

2 Q Are yo~ a member of the Illinois Bar Association?

3 A Yes.

4 Q, And the C1 ty Bar Association? A Yes.

5 Q Are you a member of the American par Asmciation?

6 A Yes.

7 Q pave you held any official position in any of those

8 or gan iza tions? A No.

9

10

11

12

Q Or in the Law Institute of the City of Chicago?

A No.

Q Your politics are what , JUdge? A Republican.

Q Do you know Clarence S. Darrow I the defendant in these

13 indictments? A Yes , sir.

14 Q How long have you known him? A WeIl, l think as long

certain.

as 1 have been in Chicago , 1 think since 1888 , 1 am not .

Q And you have known him in Chicago alone , no other place?

A No other place , no.

Q What has been the nature and intimacy of your acquaint-

A 1 knew him as a member of the bar I tr i edance?

cases against him when 1 was at thebar , met him, not

frequently but socially occasionally. Eehas tried

cases in n~ court since 1 h~ve been on the bench and 1

have met him in company With other lawyers-

Q pave you met him socially? A Yes, sorretimes.

Q Fave you known him in a political life in Chicago?
25
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A WeIll only by reputation.

Q Did you know him as a member in attendance of meet­

ings in any of the bar associatior£ that 1 have mentioned?

A Yes.

Q Did you see him there frequently? A Well, not fre­

quently no, because 1 did not attend them frequently mysel~

Q Dur ing the time that you knew Mr. Darrow, \Vas he a man

who was much or little in public notice in this city, the

ci ty of Chicago? A He has always been a great de:'!.l in

pu blic no tice.

Q In what relation or in reference to what? Profession-

ally I politi cally or in what way? A Professionally and

civic matters and reform movements.

Q Do you know the general reputation that Mr· Darrow bore

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14
15 in the community in which he resides previous to the

16 finding of these indictments against him for truth, honesty

and inte.gri ty? A 1 think 1 do.

Q What was that reputation? A Good.

Q Putting it in the present tense l what is that repuation

now? A 1 think it is still good.

MR. MASTERS. Th~t is all.

.MR • KEETCH. That is all. No questions I Judge.

(Signe d) ijarcus A. Kavanagh."
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47 years ago, and 1 was away for a few years to school, a

few years in Vi 3.shington.

Q How long have you lived in Chicago? A 1 waa born here.

1 have lived here practically ally my life. 1 was born here

Chicago,

Please s tate your full name? A Kickham Scanlan.

Where do you reside? A 2118 Erving P:1.ace,

Q

Q

MR. ROGERS. (Reading) "KICKHAM SCANLAN, produced as

a witness on behalf of the defendmt, having been first

dUly swo!n, was examined in chief by Mr. Masters, and

testified as follows:

Q Do you hold any official position in this county? A 1

am one of the .Judges of the Circuit Court of Cook County.

Q When were you electe~? A Three years ago.
£.<

Q nave you held any other official position in this

County? A 1 have not. 1 never aspired to any. 1 will

take that back. There was atime in my young days when 1

wanted to be States Attorney of this County, but it is so

long ago that 1 had forgotten about it.

Q Was there any time when you were in any way, specially

or otherwise, connected wi~h the States Attorney's office

of Cook County, Illinois? A Yes, sir.

Q When was· that? A 1 was special oounsel for the State

in the prosecution of the Dr. Cronin murder case--one of tee

speaial counsel inthe first trial, and the special counsel

in the second tr ial. 1 was also sp ec ial couns el for th
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occasions.

aid in clearing the dockets.

Q About how many more? A Half a dozen, 1 should say.

people in the Jury Bribing cases, People vs John Graham,

and others.

at one time here

Q When ~as the latter case tried? A About 22 years ago.

1 have been also special States Attorney on a few other

1 served as Assistant States Attaaey

when there was a bad condition of affairs in the calendar,

the calendars were clogged, and 1 acted for 60 or 90 days,

as one of the Assistant States Attorneys at that time to

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12 Q During whose administration was that? A Well, 1

13

14

_ ; act.ed·,. as Special States Attorney in Judge Longeneck­
administration and also in

er IS.,,~ Jacob J • Kern's administration.

15 Q That is, when Mr. Longnecker and J4r. Kern were res-

16 pectively States Attorney of Cook County) Illinois? A Yes

17 sir.

18 Q Before you \7er e elected to the bench, state whether or

19 not you were in the practice of your profession, in the

20 practice of law? A 1 was.

21 Q. Wher e? A Ch icago, Cook County, 111i nois •

22 Q Have you ever practiced any other place? A 1 have

23 tried cases' in a number of other states, but 1 just went

24 ther e to try tb em •

25 Q your professional life has been here) outside of those

26 exceptions? A yes. 1 just went there especially to t
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tbose cases.

Q Did you have anything to do with the States Attorney's

office d~;ring the time Luther Laflin Mi'ls was States At­

torney? A 1 did not. 1 went with him right after he left

the"States Attorney's office.

Q But you remember when he was States Attorney? A Yes,

sir; 1 do.

Q You were living here at that time? A Yeq sir.

Q 1 wish you would state, JUdge some of the cases you par­

ticipated inwhile you were at the bar? Q Nan,e a few

of the prominent cases you took part in? A 1 dont know

just what cases you have in mind.

Q 1 mean rather important cases? A 1 have been rather

active in the trial of cases for a quarter of a century.

Q Where were you a&nitted to the bar? A Chicago the

State of Illinois.

Q What year? A 1888 or 1889.

Q Where did you attend school? A Chicago College of

Law. Do you mean law school?

Q 1 mean before you began to study law? A ;he public

schools, and high schools, Washington, District of Colum­

bia, Universi ty of Notre Dame, Chicago, College of la\v.

Q Are you a member of the Chicago Bar Association? A

A 1 am.

Q And of the Illinois State Bar ~8sociation? A 1 am.

Q Ar e you a member of the Ana- ican Bar Assoc iation? A



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

4017

am not.

Quave you ever held any official position in any of

those organizations'? A 1 have not.

Q Or in what is known as the Chicago Law Insti tute?

A 1 have not.

Q Your politics are What) JUdge? A Republican.

Q Do you know the defendant) Clarence S. Darrow?

A Very well.

Q How long have you known him'1 A Just abou t a quarter

of a c en tur y.

Q Where have you known him '1 A 1 have known him her e

in Chicago.

Q our ing any of the time that you kre w him in Chicago

were your offices near his? A For many years his offices

were ontmnsame floor of the sarne building as mine were.

Q During that period of time 1 wish you would state

how frequently you saw him? A Oh) every day) 1 should

say; practicaly every day. Of course) ,there would be

days that 1 'Nould not see him.

Q Prior to the time that you had offices in the

same bUilding 1 wish you would state how frequently you

saw him) and where? A Qui te often. 1 knew Mr. DarroVl

from the time that he first came into prominence in tra

City of Chicago.

Q Will you state what was the nature and intimacy of your

acquaintance with him? A 1 knew him as a lawyer) and



1 man, quite well.

2 Q Did you know him in political life? Or, rather,

3 did you know of him in political life? A 1 did.

4 Q Did you know him soc ially? A Yes, sir.

5 Q In social lifle? A Yes, 1 knew him socially.

6 Q During the time that you knew Darrow, state whether

7 or not he was a man who was much or little in public

8 notice? A He was very much in public notice.

9 Q In what particular, as to the fomr of that notice?

10 1 do not mem as to the subject matter, but as to the form

11 of its expression as to whether inthe newspapers or by word

12 of mouth or inwhat way? A Yes, he figured qUite pro-

13 minently in the newspapers. He was a talker on mahy

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

public occasions, and he took an active part in politics

of this county, although he did not belong to either the

Democrats or the Republican party, as 1 ur.derstand it,
an

he was independent in politics.
1\

Q Do you know the general reputation which Mr. Darrow

bore in the community in wh ich he resi~es, pr evioua to

the finding of these indictments against him, for

21 tr uth, hones ty and in tegr i ty? Al do.

22 Q What was that reputat ion? A It was very good.

23 Q What is-that reputation? A It is very good now.

MR. MASTERS. That is all."24

25 MR • KEETCH. (Re ading ) "Cross-Examination, By ;,1r. Keetch.

26 Q Judge, these cases th:lt you have spoken of that you
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1 tried as States Attorney, People vs. John Graham,

2 when were they tried? A That case was tried about 22

3 or 23 years ago.

4 Q Were you interested either as States Attorney or as

5 Judge in cases which were tried, 1 believe the names

6 were Gallagher and a man nanad By Simon and several

7 others? A 1 was not.

8 Q For bribery, jury bribery? A No, 1 was not.

9 Q 1):) you remember anything about that"£ A 1 remember

10

11

such cases, from reading about them, but 1 took no part

in them.

12 Q That was about ten years ago, wasn't it? A 1 should

at that time, were

not think so, but it may be. Time flies.

Q You were not connected with the States Attorney's

office then? A No, 1 was not.

Q Who was then? A That wasduringo the administration of

Mr. Deneen, as 1 recall it.

Q Your acquaintance with him was a little ~ore than one of

mere acquaintance; itwas one of intimacy and friendship?

A 1 knew him very well, indeed.

Q Have you ever had occasion to discuss his reputation

. Q Then, you were not on the bench

you? A 1 was not, no, sir.

Q You dont know whether Mr. Darrow defended those cases,
you

or/dont know his connection with them, of your own personal
have no

knOWledge? A l/knewledge on that.
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1 anyone, as to his truth, integrity a~d honesty?

2 A 1 don.t think so.

3 Q And the r epu tation that you r af er to is based upon the

4 fact that it has not been discussed? A 1 never heard it

5 ques tioned. 1 have hear d his pol it ical views quee tioned,

6 but his integrity and hon"esty 1 never heard questioned.

7 Q 1 believe that reputation is what people say of others,

8 isn •tit? A Reputation is what people say abou t men •

9

10

11

12

As 1 understand it the authorities have ruled that a man
that reputation

mamay have the best reputation and yetAbe never spoken of.

Q That is true, Judge. A That is rq understanding of the

ru::e.

13 Q It is on the negative side on which you base that

14 statement, is it? A 1 never heard his integrity or

15 honesty questioned by anybody. 1 have heard him discussed

16 probably as much as any man in Chicago-

17
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MR • KEETCH. That is all.

MR. MASTERS. That is all.

(Signed) Kickham Scamlan. ff



a wi tness on behalf of the defendillt, having been first

1

2

MR. ROGERS • (Reading) "1'ULLIAM H. BARNUM, produced as

I

3 dUly sworn, was examined ;i-nj chief by i,fr. Masters, and testi-

4 fied as follows:

5 Q Will you please state your nane? A 'WilJ iam H. Barmm.

6 Q Where do you live, Judge 7 A My residence is in River-

7 side, ten miles from Chicago. My office and business are

8 here in Chicigo.

9 Q, vow old are you, Judge? A Seventy two.

10 Q Yeur profession is that of a lawyer? A Yes, sir.

11 Q How long have you practiced law in the City of Chicago

12 and the county of Cook? A In Ch icago since Novetber 1867,

13 with the exception of my judic ial term as Circuit Cour t,

14 which term was six years, and 1 resigned six months before

15 the expir a tion of the six years. All of th e res t Gf the

16 time after that 1 have been pr actic ing in Ch icago.

17 Q During the time you were judge of the Court, were you

18 . residing right in the City of Chicago? A Well, 1 lived

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

in a nor thern suburb for a time dur ing my incumbency on tre

bench for two or three years ,then lived in Chicago for the

rest of my judicial term, substantially.

Q During the period you have practiced law in Chicago,

how much of. ~hat time have you Jived within the actual

boundaries of the city? A Well, 1 should sC¥ , over

twenty-five years.

Q, Wbat official positions have you held? A Excuse



indeed.

and later the suburb of Riverside which is ten miles west.

law? A Yes, sir.

Q Continuously in Chicago? A Yes, in all of the courts.

Q Do you know Clarence S • Darrow? A In all of the courts

except the Municipal Cour ts, 1 should say.

Q 1 say, do you know Clarence S. Darrow? A Very well

4022 I
Evanston, Ithe rest of the time very close by, the suburb of

Q What official position have you held in thia ci.:tr?

A only the position of Circuit JUdge of the Circuit

Cour t of Cook Coun ty •

Q When was that? A From June, 1879, a term of six

years, and 1 resigned on the 1st of December, 1884, to

go back into practice.

Q And from that time to this, you have been practicing

1 spent fuy whole time in the city except nights and

Sundays.

Q The suburn of Riverside, and the suilurb on theNorth,

as far as the eye can observe, they run right together?

A r think Evanston is a part of the city now, but 1 am

not sure.
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22 Q ~ow long have you known him, JUdge? A Well, 1

23 have known him practically ever since he came to Chicago

24 as a young rr:an. 1 don't know just what year that was, but

25 it certainly is as far back as 1880 or 1881,

26 Q Was it prior to the time th at you res igned from the
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1 bench? A Well, yes, tha t is my recollection.

2 Q That is your recollection? A Yes, sir.

3 Q Was ~our acquaintance with him in the City of Chicago

4 and in this county? A It was both in the City of Chicago

5 and in my suburban homes, or one of them, at least.

6 Q What has been the nature and intimacy of your acquaintan

7 ce with him? A My acquaintance with him began with the

8 interest that 1 took in his appearance as a young rran. 1

9 had li ttle or no intimacy wi th him for two or three years

10 after 1 first saw him. 1 happened to meet him somewhere on

11 the west side, at a gatbering, but 1 felt interested in

12 him, and about two or three years a~ter that the interest

13 became extended and became greater and greater, and haa con-

14 tinued up until this time.

15 Q Have you known him in public life, Judge? A Very

in the City of Chicago J as to whether he was much or little

Q And in professional life? A Very well, indeed~

Q And in polltical life? A Yes.

Q. Have you known him socially? A Yes.

Q What has been the nature of his experience and career

16 well.

17

18

19

20

21

in the public notice during the period that you knew

A 1 can hardly ren:ember the time inthe last 25him?

years, 1 mould think, that he was not. a marked and

noted man in this community.

Q How has he been as to whether he was rr.uch or little

22
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26
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cussed by members of the bar and by people in social and

political life here? A Well, 1 would not call it discus­

sion, because he did not come under discussion, but--

Q nse the word 'mentioned.! A 1 know that he was

spoken of a very great deal for his character and talents ,

very generally.

Q Do you know the general reputation which Mr. Darrow

bore in the community in \'lhich he res ides, previous to the

findings of these indictments against him, for truth,

hones!fiy and integr i ty ? A yes.

Q What was that repu tation? A Good, very good indeed.

Q What is that reputation? A parring what has arisen

and occurred in my presence a few times only in relation

to the matter of these indictments, ris reputation is just

as goo~ as it ever was among his gen eral acquaintances and

in the circles in which he had moved, it is just as

good as it ever was.

Q But that qualification of yours is limited to that?·

A To that sUbject matter.

Q Timi ted to the sUbject matter of these things which

have been said since the finding of these indictments?

A The sUbject matter of these indictments.

Q You are using the word reputation in the connection to

mean what people say to you? A The genera reputation

among h is neighbors and acqt.ain tances as they knO.'/ him,

in refer ence to the rn at ter indic a ted.
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MR • MASTERS .' That is all."

MR • KEETCH. (Reading) "Cross-Exarr-ination, By Mr. Keetch:

Q You say that you took an interent in Mr. Darrow as a

young man? A 1 did. 1 was struck by his appearance.

Q And you ,have followed his career ever since? A Yes,

air.

Q ~losely and intimately? A Yes, sir.

Q And have been a close and intimate friend of his in

that respect? A We have been friends.

Q Now, the community that you referred to, Judge, not only

takes in the place where you and he have lived together

as neighbors, but takes inthe Ci ty of Chicago as a whole?

A It takes in the whole city of Chicago, but we have never

lived next door neighbors, or as close neighbors. But

1 know him, and 1 know his neighbors and acquaintances.

Q And you have been socially intimate? A yes; 1 ha~e

traveled wi th r.im.

Q By reason of your interest in him, and friendship for

him, and so forth, you naturally would say what was good

of him, if you possibly could, under the circumstanceso

A Well, 1 dont unders tand tat 1 am tea t ify ing as to

my persona} estimate'~, or affection for him, or regard for

him, but 1 am testifying as to his general reputation, and

1 have given my testimony on ttat line, and not in regard

to my personal opinion of him.

Q Well, Judge, of course 1 realize that you cave been

-on tr.e bench for rr.any year~ and 1 arr not ataall(abyquJe~!tl:illl)Di



26 his general reputation? A 1 have, yes.

r
I

to follow then: in detail. 1 know ir... general what the
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speaker, a man inter es ted in 60C ial ques tiona, and ~a man

interested in political questions, is that right, Judge?

A That ie part of it. His devotion and attachment to the

cause of duty and justice is anotherplrt of it. All of that

any motives that you have in any sense of the word. 1

sirr;ply want to get to the matter of your feeling for him,

'/lrlLb h would be more or less biased by your intimacy with
him, wouldn't it? A I do not think that I am biased in
test,ifyiiigras to: -his general}' reput ati6n'.fihrhon,~~~X.andA~­
tegri ty about which I am interrogated. ' I ne-<t~F""1i~1-anoto hi
honesty, integrity and veracity brought into question

or made a matter of discussion, 1 have ~ever teard it. 1

have heard various things said which were highly compli­

men tary to him in all ways.

Q Then, as a matter of fact, the reputation that you

speak of is based generally, inthe con:munity, upon his

standing here as a lawyer, and as a pUblic character and

proceedings in California? A No, 1 have not been able

papers have contained and outlined.

has been recognized in this community ever since he ,has

been in-the public eye.

Q May 1 ask this: Of course you have followed the

A I certai~ly do.

Q And you have come forward voluntarily to testify to

Q As I say, by reason of your friendship for hirr., you

realize the position in whim he is at the present time?
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Q That is all, air. Thank you very much •

MR • MASTERS. Q You have been asked to come here, haven 't

yeu, Judge? A Yes.

MR • MASTERS. Q 1 asked you to come, didn 1 t I? A yes,

vohmtarily. 1 was not subpoenaed.

MR. MASTERS. That is all.

MR • KEETCH. Tha t is all.

(S igned) Wi11 iarr, H. Barnum. It
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a witness on behalf of the defendm t, hav ing been fir B t

duly sworn, was examined in chief by Mr. Masters, and

testified as follows:

Q Please state your full name? A Axel Chytraus.

Q Where do you res ide? A 422 AT1 ington Place, Chicago

l1linois.

Q Wha;;+- is your age? A Fif ty -two.

Q. your profession? A Lawyer.

Q pow long have you practiced law in the City of Chicago?

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

MR • ROGERS. (Reading) "AXEL Cb~TPAUS, produced as

11 A Since 1881. Tvventy~seven years, that would be.

12 Q pave you ever held any official position in this

13 County'( A 1 have.

14 Q In the~buty of Cook, and state of Illinois! A 1

15 have.

16 Q Wl;9.t pos it ion? A Judge of the Super ior Caur t and

17 Judge of the Appellate Court, ex-officio.

18 Q uow long wer e you a Judge of the Super ior Cour t?

19 A Twa1ve year B •

Q IS that the only official position tha t you have held?

A That is all.

Q In this county? A yes, sir.

Q And as judge of the Super ior Cour t, you were ex-

A "By26 Q By appointement of the Supren:e Court?

20

21

22

23

24 cfficio Judge of the Appellate Court! A Yes, by appoint-

25 ment •
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1885i l88450r 1885.

quite well.

A Yes, many times.

A do.T

1 would say since aboutA

When' were they returned, Mr. Keetch?

By ass ignment '1 A 1 did, rather by rotation.

By rotation.. Do you know Clarence S. Darrow?

How long have you known him"1

Q

Q

Q

Wi • MASTERS •

of the Supreme Court of the State of Illinois.

Q And as ~1Udge of the Superior Court, you beld in the

Criminal. Court, the Chancery Court, the Cornmon l,aw Court?

A ± did.
or

Q Where have you known him? A Here in Chicago.

Q What is the n<J. ture and intimacy of your acquaintance with

him? A Professionally and personally.
.u

Q Have you known him in any bar associations, and socially'!

A Well, yes. Socially, 1 have not met him ve1Y much.

1 have been to his house a couple of times--

Q You have known him, though? A --on personal matters.

Q. You have known him mostly in the practice of his profes­

sion? A yes, meeting him professionally, and knowing him

Q Do you know the general reputation which l;~r. Darrow

core inthe communi ty in which he r esi des'? A 1 do •

Q Previous to the finding of these indictn.ents agains t

hirn--do you know the general reputation he bore for

truth, hones ty and integr i ty 7 A Yes, 1 do. When vlere

those indictments returned?

Q And has he appeared before you a number of times?
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26 Q. ~o th personal ani profess ional ? A yes, air. 1

and he lived sometimes up in Lake View, and at other

Q Well, JUdge, you have known Mr. Darrow some t~ty-seven

A 1 lived in Lake View ~

"Cross-Examination, by ~lr.

That is all."

(Reading )

They were filed last--

-Q Did live near him?T" you

years? A Yes.

MR. MAsters.

MR • KEETCR.

Keetch.

times in different parts of the city.

Q Is th":tt where you lived? A 1 live in Lake View, what

we cal} Lake View.

Q were you neighbors? A We never were very close neigh­

tors, only in a general sense.

Q Well, was your knowledge of him more personal 7

1 think you have said your knowledge was personal very large

ly7 A ~oth personl and professional.

MR. MASTERS. Last December?

:MR • KEETCH. tas t De c eITter •

MR • MAS TERS • Or in January?

MR. KEETCH. No, no; filed in February •

THE WITNESS. Sometirre in th is ye ar , was n' t i t7

MR. KEFTCH. In the fore part of February.

~Ii. MASTERS. Q What is your answer 7 A 1 do •

Q What was that reputation 7 A Good; very good.

Q What is that reputation? A It is good.

MR. KEETCH.
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1 knew him as a lawyer, and professionally and personally.

2

3

4

5

Q you ffequen tly met him 1 A Yes, 6 ir •
,..,

And talked wi th him? A Yes, sir.\({

Q Yeu have now the kindl ies t feeling for him? A 1 have.

Q And if you can help him in any way, you naturally will

6 do so? A In any legi timate way, yes.

7 Q Exactly. 1 would not expect you to do it in any other

8 way. Any pr oper way. Far be it from me to sugges t any-

9 thing else. Now, With reference to t."'e COL,munity in which

10 he lives, do you refer ::to Chicago? A Chicago as a com-

11 munity •

12 Q Generally? A Yes, sir 0

13 Q And the r eputati on wh ich you say he h as for truth,

14 honesty and integrity is governed by tr.e City of C\-icago'?

A Never.

A Yes, sir.

Q Have you hear d it discussed1 A 1 can't ;:a.ay that 1

have heard it discussed.

A But it is the wayQ 1 don't ask you to do that.

in which a person is known. He may be favorably known or

unfavorably known.

Q As Judge of the Super ior Court, have you discussed Ur.

Darrow's reputation for truth, honesty and integrity?

Q And your definiteion of reputati on, Judge, is wh~?

May 1 ask you tl"-at? It seems to be an elelLental question.

A Reputation--weJl, 1 don't know as 1 can give the dic-

tionary deUnition.
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Q That is from what you have formed y,our opinion in

your own mind of the gentleman? A Ye~ and he has bean

spoken of ~

Q If you have heard him spoken of) you must have heard

him discussed) then? A Well) as 1 say, a man may be

spoken of and not discussed.

~ Spoken of with reference to honesty, integrity and

so forth? A Yes, sir.

Q And you, have formed your opin ion from tha t '7 A Yes, s iI;.

MR. KEETCR· That is all) 1 think •

MR. MAsters. That is ail) Judge.

(Signed) Axel Chytraus."



1 MR. ROGERS. (Reading) "EDGAR B
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TOLMAN, produced as

2 a witness on behalf of the defendant, being firBt duly

3 sworn, was. exarrdned in chief by Mr. Masters, and testified

4 as follows:

5 Q Major, will you please state your full narre? A Edgar B

6 Tolman •

7 Q Where do you live? A 1 live at 5810 Woodlawn Avenue,

8 Cbicago, Illinois.

9 Q How long have you lived in the city of Chicago! A About

10 for ty years.

11 Q Where did you live before living in Chicago? A Sand-

12 I
13

14

15\
16

17

wich, 111 inois, For t ~ad ison, Iowa" an d l.awrence, ~"assa­

chusetts.

Q Were you admitted to the bar inttially in the State of

Illinois? A 1 was.

Q Wbat year was tha t? A 18820

Q, And you have followed the profession of law from that

18 tin,e until the present time? A 1 have, uninterruptedly,

19 in Chicago all the time.

20 Q, pave you held any official positions, lI:ajor, in this

21 county? A Yefj,sir.

22 Q Will you please state what they were? A 1 have held

23 but one official position connected with the city govern-

24 ment--I held two positions; 1 was first Attorney for the

25 Board of Local Improvements of the City of Chicago, and held

261 that position for two years.

I
I
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1 Q When was that"/ A That was from 1901 to 1908. 1 was

2 then appointed Corporation Counsel of tte Ci ty of Chicago,

3 and held that office from 1908 to-- 1 th ink too ye ar s

4 and three months until sometime in July, 1905.

5 Q Any other official position? A Not in connection with

7 Q, Well, 1 will enlarge the qwstion, then. Any official

8 position of any kind? A 1 was Major con:manding the Second

9

10

11
1

12

13

14

Battal1ion of Illinois Infantry, United StatesVClunteero,

dur ing the war with Spain, from the beginning of tha t war

until tl:e regiment was mustered out after its close. 1 was

alse Major of the First Infar.try Illinois National Guard for

five years prior to the breaking out of the war, and served

in the National Guard for sixteen years.

15 Q Ar e you a member of the Chicago Bar Asacc ia10n'? A 1

16 am.

17 Q And of the Illinois Bar Association? A Illinois State

18 Bar Assoc ia tion •

19 Q Illinois State Par Association? A 1 am.

20 Q Are you a member of the American ," ' Bar Association?

21 A 1 am.

22 Q Baye you held any official positions in any of those

23 or ganizations 7 A Yes, sir.

24 Q Wi]] you please state what they were? A 1 an:. nov the

Pr es ident of the Chicago Par Association, and 1 have beena25
I

26 !

I

marrber of the Board of Managers of the



terms Chairman of the Committee on law reform inthe

Q Have you held any official position in that organiza-

Illinois State Bar Association, and 'President of the Illi­

nois Conference for the reform of the law of practice and

Association? A No, air, 1 have not.

Q Are you a member of the Chicago Law Institute? A Yes,

A Tolman &

No, 1 think not.Ation?

ciation for-- Oh, 1 think six or eig'htdifferent years

that 1 have had a membership on that Managing Committee, at

distant iritervals. 1 have been for three successive

procedure for three years ,tbat conference being a con­

ference organized by the Illinois State Bar Association.

Q. Have you held any official posi tion in the ArrJerican Bar

sir.
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15 I16\ 'Q What is' the name of your law firnl, Kajor?

Redfield.
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I

Q, Do you know Clarence S. Darrow, the defendant in tbes~

indictn~ents? A 1 do.

'"I

Q HoV! long have you known him? A Well, 1 shoul d think

twenty-tHo years or thereabouts. My recollection is 1

became acquainted with him before 1890. 1 know that 1 kne.v

him in 1890, ·and 1 think 1 knew him sometime before ~hat.

Q And wh er e has your acquaintance with him been, in the

city of Chicago or elsewhere? A Inthe city of Chicago, ~

elsewhere, but principally in the.City of Chicago.

Q What has been the nature and intimacy of your acquaint
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1 ance with him? A In 1890, Cl.arence Darrow was a neigh-

2 bor of mine; we came to the city on the same suburban

3 train, fr ~quently convers ing together dur ing the tr ip.

4 I Q Wh::tt neighborhood do you refer to, Major? A 1 then

5 1 ived on 40th Btree t near Grand Bou1evar d, in the Oi ty of

6 Chicago, and he lived in that neighborhood a little fur-

7 ther Bouth. 1 saw him frequently getting on ~nd off trains

8 at the same station and riding on the Bame train. 1 met

9 him in court with more or less frequency. Later on, after

Yes ,I

i
i

I

A

A

Yes, Bir.A

No, Bir.AIn social life?

Pave you known him in political life in Chicago?

uave you known him in these organizations of lawyers

nur ing the time that you knew Darrow in Chicago, 111i-

that you have mentioned?

6 ir •

Q

Q

Q

nois, 1 wish you would state whether or not he was a man

Q

who was much or 1 i ttle in publiC notice her e1

1 was Corporation Counsel, Mr. Darrow was reta.ined by Judge

Dunne in the ~hicago Traction Litigation, which has been in

my charge as Corporation Counsel, and 1 spent wi th him

then the greater part of two months in daily and nightly co ­

ference in regard to the conduct of that case in the Suprem

Court of the Uni ted States. We went together to Washing-
have

ton, and were together there a couple of weeks, and l"seen

him freQuently since, although not so frequently of course

as at that time •
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1 was ffiuch in the·public eye. He was prominent in politics

2 and prominent in the practice of hi~profession, and he

3 was also a. man of much prominence in his utterances on

4 public Q.uestions other than poli tical or legal questions.

5 Q. You mean by that sociological and philanthropical ques-

6 tiona? A ""hos e wOl.Jld be included in my word 1 other t •

7 Q I did not get that. A Those two would be included in

8 my worda 'other than legal or poli tical. t

9 Q Do you know the general reputation which :,u. Darrow bore

10 in the cOIIimunity in which he resides, previcus to the

11 finding of these indictments against him, for truth, honesty

12 and in tegr i ty '1 AId 0 •

13 Q What was that reputation? A Good.

14 Q Putting the ques tion in the pr esent tense, what is

15 that r epu tat ion? A Go od •

16 MR • MAS TERS. That is all.

17 MR. KEETCP. No quee tions •

THE COURT. Gentlemen of the jury, we will take a recess

until 2 otclock.

(Jury admonished. Recess until 2 P.M.)
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(Signed) Edgar B. Tolman. 1t




